Filed 01-25-2023

Page 1 of 27

FILED 01-25-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2022AP001396-CR

IN THE MATTER OF THE FINDING OF CONTEMPT IN

STATE v. ARIELLE A. SIMMONS,

Attorney Thomas L. Potter

Appellant,

v.

Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Kori

Ashley, presiding,

Respondent.

Appeal From Order Finding Contempt Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court in Case 2021CM000754, The Hon. Kori Ashley, Presiding

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Julie Knyszek Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1118911 Attorneys for Appellant Julie.Knyszek@da.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did Potter have no other avenue to preserve the issue of victim exclusion but to act in contempt?

Not answered by the circuit court.

This Court should answer: Yes.

2. Was the circuit court's sequestration order against the victims erroneous?

Not answered by the circuit court.

This Court should answer: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Potter requests neither oral argument nor publication. The briefs in this matter can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on the issues. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(1)(b). Further, as a matter to be decided by one judge, this decision will not be eligible for publication. *See* Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Simmons was charged with misdemeanor battery against TH and disorderly conduct against GD¹ in violation of Wis. Stat. § § 940.19(1) and 947.01(1). (R33:1). The case was originally set for a jury trial on March 7, 2022. (R33:3). On February 18, 2022, Simmons filed the Defendant's Motion in Limine which included motion number nine – to prohibit the victim from being in the courtroom, along with all other witnesses, when not testifying. (R12:2-4). On February 22, 2022, the State filed a response to Simmons' Motion in Limine number nine arguing it was inconsistent with Wisconsin law. (R14:1-4). On March 7, 2022, the trial was adjourned at

¹ Potter uses initials to refer to the victims, consistent with Wis. Stat. §§ 809.19 (1)(g), 809.86(4).

Simmons' request and a new trial date was set for May 31, 2022. (R33: 4).

On May 31, 2022, the State filed a document titled, "State's Defense of Victim's Statutory And Constitutional Right to Attend Entire Trial," which further defended the right of victims not to be physically excluded from the courtroom during their trial. (R19:1). On May 31, 2022, the morning session was primarily spent choosing which trial would proceed on that date. (R27: 3, 7).

In discussing the outstanding motion to exclude the victim, the trial court indicated its general practice as to sequestration was that if the court could make a specific finding that the victim's presence would violate Simmons' due process rights, the court would order exclusion when the trial begins, at openings in the court's view. (R27:13). The court then asked Simmons for a specific reason as to why the victims in the case should be excluded for the trial. (R27:14). Simmons argued that because the victims were criminal defense attorneys they would be more likely to shape their testimony to the State's theory of the case. (R27:14). Simmons requested that the victims therefore not be allowed into the courtroom until they had testified. (R27:17).

The State, represented by Potter, opposed Simmons' motion as contrary to both Wisconsin statutes and the Wisconsin Constitution and cited to the document defending the victims' right to attend filed that morning. (R27:17-18). The court ruled on motion number nine prior to starting voir dire and ruled that the "defense theory of the case" necessitated a finding under Wis. Stats. § 906.15(2d) for excluding the victims – a different rationale than the one argued by Simmons. (R27:26-27). The court referenced *State v. Payette, 2008 WI App 106, 313 Wis.2d, 756 N.W.2d 423* as authority for the ruling and ordered that the victims may not be present for opening statements and until after they testified. (R27:28). Jury selection started at 2:01 p.m. and concluded at 4:55 p.m. on May 31, 2022. (R33:5). The jury was ordered to return on June 1, 2022, at 1:15 p.m. (R33:5).

The case was recalled on June 1, 2022, at 1:29 p.m. and the court started with a sidebar to let the State make a record.

(R30:2). Potter assured the court that his actions were not meant in disrespect, but were the only means available to preserve the issue of victim exclusion for appeal. (R30:2). Potter stated he had sent an email to the primary victim in the case minutes earlier, stating exactly as follows:

> "Attorney [TH], understanding that you have expressed an interest in attending the opening statements, and perhaps other portions of State versus Arielle Simmons, as is your right as a victim, and understanding also that Judge Ashley has ordered you excluded until after you have testified, I am nevertheless inviting you to attend the opening statement because I believe Judge Ashley's order to be inconsistent with Wisconsin law, and wish to have it reviewed by an appellate court."

(R30:2-3).

Potter advised the court that he realized sending the email put him in defiance of the Court's order and that he did so intentionally so that the court would find Potter in contempt. (R30:3). Potter reiterated that he was not challenging the Court's authority, but simply attempting to preserve the matter for appeal as there would be no other way to preserve the issue from becoming moot short of the actions taken. (R30:3).

The court ruled that the email sent by Potter was a flagrant violation of the exclusion order the Court entered on May 31, 2022, found Potter in contempt of that order, and issued a fine of \$500. (R30:3-4). Finding Potter in contempt was done pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 785.03(2), and was signed and filed in a written order on July 20, 2022. (R29:1).²

On August 15, 2022, Potter filed a notice of appeal from the July 20, 2022, contempt order (R32:1).

² It should be noted that TH never did try to enter the courtroom until he was called as a witness.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The question before the court is the interpretation of Wisconsin law related to contempt orders and victim rights. Whether the circuit court has applied the correct legal standard is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Landwehr v. Landwehr*, 2006 WI 64, ¶ 8, 291 Wis. 2d 49, 57, 715 N.W.2d 180, 184. Where the circuit court acts as the trier of fact, this Court will not upset those findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *See* Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2); *Farrell v. John Deere Co.*, 151 Wis. 2d 45, 62, 443 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1989). Interpretation and application of the law to those facts, however, is a matter of law to review de novo. *Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis.*, *Inc.*, 2009 WI 74, ¶¶35-36, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615.

ARGUMENT

I. The underlying order excluding victims from the trial was erroneously rendered and Potter's defiance of that order provided the only meaningful opportunity for review.

A circuit court's power to use contempt stems from the inherent authority of the court. Firsch v. Henrichs, 2007 WI 102, ¶ 32, 304 Wis. 2d 1, 20, 736 N.W.2d 85, 94, citing Griffin v. Reeve, 141 Wis.2d 699, 706 n. 4, 416 N.W.2d 612 (1987). That power may, within limitations, be regulated by the legislature. Id. "When the procedures and penalties of contempt are prescribed by statute, the statute controls." Id., (citing State ex rel. Lanning v. Lonsdale, 48 Wis. 348, 367, 4 N.W. 390 (1880)). Chapter 785 of the Wisconsin Statutes was established by the legislature and deals specifically with Contempt of Court. Section 785.01 defines contempt of court and includes intentional misconduct or disobedience towards the authority of a court as two means of contempt. Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(a) and (b). Contempt may be punished either by a punitive sanction or a remedial sanction. Wis. Stat. § 785.02.

A court order is a type of judgment, and when a party challenges a court order as a defense to criminal contempt charges, this is a collateral attack.³ The general rule is that a person who disobeys a court order cannot challenge the merits

³ John R.B. Palmer, *Collateral Bar and Contempt: Challenging A Court Order After Disobeying It*, 88 Cornell L. Rev. 215, 219 (2002).

of that order as a defense to criminal contempt charges.⁴ The United States Supreme Court has stressed that "[a]n injunction duly issued out of a court of general jurisdiction with equity powers [] must be obeyed [] however erroneous the action of the court may be, even if the error be in the assumption of the validity of a seeming, but void law going to the merits of the case." *Howat v. State of Kansas*, 258 U.S. 181, 189–90, 42 S. Ct. 277, 280–81, 66 L. Ed. 550 (1922). Per *Howat*, "It is for the court of first instance to determine the question of the validity of the law, and until its decision is reversed for error by orderly review, either by itself or by a higher court, its orders based on its decision are to be respected, and disobedience of them is contempt of its lawful authority, to be punished." *Id*.

Wisconsin has further adopted the position that while a void judicial order or judgment "is not binding on anyone," an allegedly erroneous order or judgment "has the same force and effect as a valid judgment." *State v. Campbell,* 2006 WI 99 ¶ 42, 294 Wis.2d 100, 121, 718 N.W.2d 649. Consequently, "[w]here a court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties, the fact that an order or judgment is erroneously or improvidently rendered does not justify a person in failing to abide by its terms." *Id.,* ¶ 49 (quoted source omitted). Rather, a person must abide by the terms of an allegedly erroneous order or judgment "until he [or she] succeed[s] in reversing it through the applicable review process." *Id.*

This reference to resort to "the applicable review process" implicates an exception to the prohibition against a collateral attack on a purportedly erroneous order or judgment, one which arises out of the Due Process Clause. *State v. Hershberger*, 2014 WI App 86, ¶ 11, 356 Wis. 2d 220, 229–30, 853 N.W.2d 586, 590–91. Under this exception, the rule prohibiting a collateral attack on a prior order or judgment may not apply where there was no meaningful opportunity for review of the order or judgment. *See Campbell*, 294 Wis.2d 100, ¶¶ 57–58, 718 N.W.2d 649 (disallowing a collateral attack on a custody order allegedly procured by fraud where "[a]dequate judicial processes exist to attack [the] order or judgment for fraud"); *United States v. Mendoza–Lopez*, 481 U.S. 828, 837–38, 107 S.Ct. 2148, 95 L.Ed.2d 772 (1987)

(stating, with respect to a criminal prosecution for re-entry to the United States following a deportation order, that "judicial review must be made available before [an] administrative order may be used to establish conclusively an element of a criminal offense").

This exception is one that has also been recognized by the United States Supreme Court. It has long been the law that where immediate review of an order is not provided for, one may refuse to comply and challenge the underlying order on appeal. *Cobbledick v. United States*, 309 U.S. 323, 60 S.Ct. 540, 84 L.Ed. 783 (1940); *United States v. Ryan*, 402 U.S. 530, 532, 91 S. Ct. 1580, 1580-82, 29 L. Ed. 2d 85 (1971). The *Ryan* court responded to the respondent's contention that without immediate review by an appellate court he would be forced to undertake a substantial burden in compliance. *Id.* The Supreme Court responded that:

> [C]ompliance is not the only course open to respondent. If, as he claims, the subpoena is unduly burdensome or otherwise unlawful, he may refuse to comply and litigate those questions in the event that contempt or similar proceedings are brought against him. Should his contentions be rejected at that time by the trial court, they will then be ripe for appellate review.

Id.

The United States Supreme Court in Maness v. Meyers further modified the collateral bar rule. Maness v. Meyers, 419 U.S. 449, 95 S. Ct. 584, 42 L. Ed. 2d 574 (1975). Maness dealt with a situation where the trial court, during trial, ordered a witness to produce material which had the substantial possibility to result in self-incrimination of that witness. Id., at 451-452. The Court noted the basic principle that all orders and judgments of courts must be complied with and if a person to whom a court directs an order believes that order is incorrect, the remedy is to appeal; but, absent a stay, he must comply promptly with the order pending appeal. Id., at 458. However, the Court went on to acknowledge that an order by a court to reveal information at trial presents a different situation than other types of orders, to which the collateral bar rule applies. Id., at 460. That compliance with such an order could cause, "irreparable injury because appellate courts cannot always 'unring the bell' once the information has been released." *Id.* Therefore, a party to whom such an order is directed may disobey the order and collaterally attack its validity during contempt proceedings. *Id.* (alteration in original) (quoting the dictum of *United States v. Ryan*, 402 U.S. 530, 532-33 (1971)).

Here, the granting of motion in limine nine was not reviewable as a matter of right. Only through the finding of contempt was an opportunity for review of victim exclusion made available. The release of incriminating information at trial cannot be undone; likewise the improper exclusion of a victim causes irreparable harm, regardless of the outcome of that trial.

A. <u>Potter had no other means to preserve the victim</u> exclusion issue for appeal.

The order Potter violated so as to be held in contempt was an order by the court granting Simmons' motion in limine number nine decided immediately prior to selecting a jury on the afternoon of trial. (R27:26-28). Appeals may be made to the court of appeals as a matter of right upon a final judgement or a final order. Wis. Stat. §808.03(1). An appeal from a ruling on a motion in limine clearly does not fall within that category.

A judgment or order not appealable as a matter of right may be pursued as a permissive appeal, but only if such appeal will either materially advance the termination of the litigation or clarify further proceedings in the litigation, protect the petitioner from substantial or irreparable injury, or clarify an issue of general importance in the administration of justice. Wis. Stat. §808.03(2)(a),(b), and (c). This Court should recognize that, as a practical matter, prosecuting such a theoretically available permissive appeal *during the course of a trial* would be beyond impractical, bordering on impossible.

Potter had no other effective opportunity for review of the order and therefore had to act in contempt as it was clear that the case would be proceeding immediately to a jury trial. Potter requested that the circuit court deal with the issue of the victim's right to attend trial in the morning session on May 31, 2022. (R27:3). Potter put on the record that he sought to do so in advance of starting the trial, because the court had not always allowed for that. (R27:4). Potter requested a clear ruling on the issue prior to starting the trial, and filed a motion with authority on the issue. (R27:4). On May 31, 2022, Potter again asked the trial court to address the issue of the victim's right to attend the trial. (R27:6). The trial court asked Potter why would they do that if Simmons' trial was not proceeding on that date. (R27:6). Potter informed the court that it could not be done upon the case being selected for trial and the trial starting, as it would not leave the State with any remedy for appeal. (R27:6). Instead, the court responded by passing the case to see if the other case would resolve. (R27:6). The other case did ultimately resolve. (R27:7).

The court heard arguments on motion in limine nine in the morning session and reserved ruling on number nine for "before we start the trial." (R27:13-19). The court ruled on Simmons' motion in limine number nine at approximately 1:34 p.m. and shortly thereafter a jury panel was in the box, at approximately 2:01 p.m. (R27:27-29, R33:5). The court was intent on proceeding to trial on that date and immediately did so after issuing its decision on motion in limine number nine. The court had made clear that the trial was moving forward and any request for a permissive appeal under Wis. Stat. 808.03(2) would not have automatically resulted in a stay of the trial.

Any opportunity for appellate review of victim exclusion expired upon completion of the trial. That is to say that whether Simmons was convicted or acquitted, the issue would be moot. "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." *State ex rel. Olson v. Litscher*, 2000 WI App 61, ¶ 3, 233 Wis. 2d 685, 608 N.W.2d 425. As a general rule, a court "will not consider a question the answer to which cannot have any practical effect upon an existing controversy." *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 13, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341 (citation omitted). Any verdict moots the issue of whether the court's order was in violation of the victim's right to attend the trial, as the case is over and double jeopardy applies.

This inevitable mooting of the issue at question makes this situation similar to the one in *Maness v. Meyers* where following the court order in a trial would have resulted in a disclosure that could not be fixed by appellate review. *Maness*, 419 U.S. 449, 460, 95 S.Ct. 584. In the instant case, the trial proceeded with the victims excluded from portions of the trial in violation of the rights bestowed upon them by the Wisconsin Constitution and Wisconsin Statutes. The circuit court's recurring practice was to exclude victims "if I'm able to make a specific finding" (R27:13). Such systemic victim's rights violations required Potter to preserve that important issue for appellate review.

B. <u>Potter had a duty under the Wisconsin Constitution and</u> <u>Wisconsin Statutes to protect the rights of victims.</u>

The Attorney's Oath taken upon admission to the practice of law in Wisconsin contains an oath to "support the constitution of the United States and the constitution of the state of Wisconsin." SCR 40.15 [emphasis added.] Potter took that oath in 1985. The Wisconsin constitution was amended in April 2020 to include Section 9m in Article I entitled, "Victims of Crime." Wis. Const. art. I,§9m. Section 9m ensures that victims be entitled to enumerated rights which are to be protected in a manner no less vigorous than the protections afforded to the accused. Wis. Const. art. I.,§9m(2). Victims are entitled to the right, upon request, to attend all proceedings involving the case. Wis. Const. art. I., §9m(2)(e). [emphasis added.] Further, that the attorney for the government upon request of the victim, may assert and seek in any circuit court or before any other authority of competent jurisdiction, enforcement of the rights in this section and any other right, privilege, or protection afforded to the victim by the law. Wis. Const. art. I., $\S9m(4)(a)$. Part of Potter's duties as a prosecutor – a very important part – is the protection and enforcement of victim rights.

Potter notified the court in the morning session of May 31, 2022, that he wanted to be heard on the right of the victim's to attend the trial. (R27:3). Potter informed the court that there were two victims in the case who wanted to attend the trial. (R27:4). Potter filed a written response giving clear authority for the victims in this case to do exactly that. All of that was done in furtherance of both his oath and duties of employment. SCR 40.15. Given the way the circuit court responded, defying the exclusion order was the only means left to protect and

vindicate the victims' right to attend in this case and future cases.

II. The order prohibiting victims from attending the trial without more specific reasons from defense violated the Wisconsin Constitution and Statutes.

The court explained its practice was to exclude victims from trial until after they had testified whenever it was "able to make a specific finding" (R27:13) but ultimately made a general finding. Simmons indicated she was arguing for sequestration because both victims were "professionals in this court system," and aware of how trials proceed. (R27:14). Simmons argued that the victims were of "the professional caliber that they have the ability to change their testimony, modify their testimony, in order to adapt it to the State's theory of the case." (R27:14). The only basis for these assertions was that both victims were criminal defense attorneys who have tried cases and were thus aware of the court system. (R27:14). Their knowledge and experience in trying criminal cases somehow meant they could not be trusted to testify truthfully. (R27:15). As Potter would argue, the fact that the victims were officers of the court was hardly reason to deny their right to attend the trial; such an "employment status" argument presumed bad faith and made no sense. (R27:19).

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