Filed 02-23-2023

Page 1 of 22

FILED 02-23-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case No. 2022AP1396-CR

In the matter of the finding of contempt in State v. Arielle A. Simmons:

ATTORNEY THOMAS L. POTTER,

Appellant,

v.

CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KORI ASHLEY, PRESIDING,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE KORI ASHLEY, PRESIDING

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CLAYTON P. KAWSKI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1066228

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Potter cannot collaterally challenge the merits of the sequestration order by appealing the contempt order.

Potter is impermissibly trying to collaterally attack the circuit court's sequestration order. The only order on review in this appeal is the contempt order. This Court should not reach the merits of the sequestration order.

A. Collateral attacks on prior judicial orders are disfavored, and the exceptions are narrow.

"A collateral attack is '[a]n attack on a judgment in a proceeding other than a direct appeal." State v. Herschberger, 2014 WI App 86, ¶ 8, 356 Wis. 2d 220, 853 N.W.2d 586 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 318 (10th ed. 2014)). "[C]ollateral attacks on prior judicial orders or judgments are generally prohibited, unless the prior orders or judgments were 'procured by fraud."" Id. ¶ 9 (citation omitted). They may also be allowed "where the prior judicial orders or judgments are void." Id. ¶ 10. "A judicial order or judgment is void '[w]hen a court or other judicial body acts in excess of its jurisdiction."" Id. (alteration in original) (citation omitted). "However, an 'order or judgment however erroneous . . . is not subject to collateral attack merely because it is erroneous, nor is it void for that reason." *Id.* (citation omitted).

"While a void judicial order or judgment 'is not binding on anyone,' an allegedly erroneously order or judgment 'has the same force and effect as a valid judgment."" Id. ¶ 11 (citation omitted). "Consequently, '[w]here a court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties, the fact that an order or judgment is erroneously or improvidently rendered does not justify a person failing to abide by its terms." Id. (alteration in original) (citation omitted). "Rather a person must abide by the terms of an allegedly erroneous order or judgment 'until he [or she] succeed[s] in reversing it through the applicable review process." Id. (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

An exception to the general rule against collateral attacks on prior judicial orders has been recognized "where there was no meaningful opportunity for review of the order or judgment." *Id.* ¶ 12.

B. The State or the sequestered witnesses could have sought review of the sequestration order.

The general rule prohibiting collateral attacks on prior judicial orders applies because the State—and the sequestered witnesses—had a meaningful opportunity to seek review of the sequestration order prior to trial. Potter incorrectly argues that seeking review "during the course of a trial would be beyond impractical, bordering on impossible," so he "had to act in contempt as it was clear that the case would be proceeding immediately to a jury trial." (Potter Br. 8.) The opportunity to seek review existed *before* trial started.

The timing of the court's sequestration order in relation to the start of the jury trial is key. Importantly, "jeopardy" "attaches when the selection of the jury has been completed *and the jury is sworn.*" *State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶ 34, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783 (emphasis added). Here, the jury was not sworn until the afternoon of June 1, 2022. (R. 30:2, 11 (June 1 transcript, with proceedings commencing at 1:29 p.m. and "(JURY SWORN)" thereafter); 33:6 (jury was "duly impaneled and sworn" on June 1)). The court's sequestration order was pronounced near the end of a motion hearing on May 31 that concluded at 1:34 p.m. (R. 27:26–28, 29.) Jury selection occurred shortly thereafter and concluded at 4:55 p.m. (R. 33:5.) The jury was dismissed and ordered to return at 1:15 p.m. on June 1. (R. 33:5.)

Given this sequence of events, there was a window of opportunity for seeking review of the sequestration order: the morning of June 1, 2022, before the jury was sworn. While the window was narrow, it was not "*during the course of a trial*" and did not "border[] on impossible." (Potter Br. 8.) There were several options for meaningful review.

First, the State could have filed a petition for a supervisory writ to challenge the sequestration order. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(1). It did not.

Second, TH or GD could have sought review of the sequestration order if they thought it violated their rights as victims. "Victims may obtain review of all adverse decisions concerning their rights as victims by courts or other authorities with jurisdiction under [Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(4)(a)] by filing petitions for supervisory writ in the court of appeals and supreme court." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(4)(b). They did not.

Third, the State could have pursued an interlocutory appeal. It could have requested a transcript of the May 31 oral ruling and that the court formalize the ruling in a written order, and then, on the morning of June 1, filed a petition for leave to appeal a non-final order and a motion to stay the trial proceedings. Wis. Stat. §§ (Rules) 809.50(1), 809.52. With those filings made, the State could have moved the circuit court on June 1 for a continuance of the trial. While an interlocutory appeal might not have been granted, the rule against collateral attacks on prior judicial orders does not require it. Only a "meaningful opportunity for review of the order" is necessary, and such review was available. *Herschberger*, 356 Wis. 2d 220, ¶ 12.

Potter concedes that "[a]ny opportunity for appellate review of victim exclusion expired upon completion of the trial"—the issue is moot. (Potter Br. 9.) Respondent agrees; the validity of the sequestration order is moot because the trial already happened, and Simmons was found guilty of disorderly conduct and not guilty of battery. (R. 25:1–2.)

To address mootness, Potter does not argue any specific exception. (*See* Potter Br. 9–10.) Instead, he argues that this case is like *Maness v. Meyers*, 419 U.S. 449 (1975). (Potter Br. 7–8, 9–10.)

Maness involved the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination. 419 U.S. at 450, 468. A trial court held an attorney in contempt for advising his client that he could refuse, on Fifth Amendment grounds, to produce allegedly obscene magazines which had been subpoenaed for the purpose of enjoining their distribution. *Id.* at 450–55. The Supreme Court began "with the basic proposition that all orders and judgments of courts must be complied with promptly." *Id.* at 458. "If a person to whom a court directs an order believes that order is incorrect the remedy is to appeal, but, absent a stay, he must comply promptly with the order pending appeal." *Id.* If the order was made during trial proceedings, counsel may object, but "once the court has ruled, counsel and others involved in the action must abide by the ruling and comply with the court's orders." *Id.* at 459.

An order requiring a witness to disclose information presents "a different situation." *Id.* at 460. "Compliance could cause irreparable injury because appellate courts cannot

Page 15 of 22

always 'unring the bell' once the information has been released." *Id.* "In those situations . . . the person to whom such an order is directed has an alternative," namely, "compliance with the trial court's order to produce prior to any review of that order, and resistance to that order with the concomitant possibility of an adjudication of contempt if his claims are rejected on appeal." *Id.* (citation omitted). The Supreme Court held that "an advocate is not subject to the penalty of contempt for advising his client, in good faith, to assert the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination in any proceeding embracing the power to compel testimony." *Id.* at 468. "To hold otherwise would deny the constitutional privilege against self-incrimination." *Id.*

Maness is distinguishable. It involved the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and, specifically, the compelled disclosure of information. There was no compelled disclosure of information when TH and GD were sequestered. (*See* Potter Br. 9–10.) Sequestration *limited* their access to information adduced at trial.

Of course, this appeal is just as moot in terms of allowing the victims to attend the trial as an appeal from the merits of the sequestration order itself. A decision in this appeal cannot provide the victims access to court proceedings that already happened; at most, it could offer an advisory opinion on the circuit court's ruling. Potter does not explain why this Court should encourage collateral attacks and disobedience of court orders rather than, for example, requiring either the State or the victim to argue that an exception to mootness allows for an appeal.

In sum, because there is no applicable exception to the rule prohibiting collateral attacks on prior judicial orders, this Court should hold that Potter cannot challenge the sequestration order by appealing the contempt order.

II. This Court should not reach the merits of the sequestration order but, if it does, the order was proper.

This Court should not reach the merits of the sequestration order because Potter appealed only the contempt order. (R. 32 (notice of appeal of the July 20, 2022, contempt order)); see County of Dane v. PSC, 2022 WI 61, ¶¶ 88–90, 403 Wis. 2d 306, 976 N.W.2d 790 (Hagedorn, J., concurring) (explaining that an appellate court should review the specific order appealed and not another order).

If this Court reaches the merits of the sequestration order, it is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion and review is "deferential." *State v. Evans*, 2000 WI App 178, ¶ 7, 238 Wis. 2d 411, 617 N.W.2d 220. This Court does "no more than examine the record to gauge whether the circuit court reached a reasonable conclusion based upon proper legal standards and a logical interpretation of the facts." *Id.* That standard was met here.

Witness exclusion is governed by statute, as the circuit court recognized. (R. 27:26–28.) At the request of a party, a judge "shall," or on her own motion "may," "order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses." Wis. Stat. § 906.15(1). "The purpose of sequestration is to assure a fair trial—specifically, to prevent a witness from 'shaping his [or her] testimony' based on the testimony of other witnesses." *Evans*, 238 Wis. 2d 411, ¶ 6 (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

The statute does not permit the exclusion of "[a] victim, as defined in s. $950.02(4) \ldots$ unless the judge \ldots finds that exclusion of the victim is necessary to provide a fair trial for the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 906.15(2)(d). "The presence of a victim during the testimony of other witnesses may not by itself be a basis for finding that exclusion of the victim is necessary to provide a fair trial for the defendant." *Id*.

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion under Wis. Stat. § 906.15(2)(d) in sequestering TH and GD. The court explained that section "906.15(2d) explicitly allows a court to exclude alleged victims if an appropriate showing is made." (R. 27:27.) The court found that "the defense theory of the case necessitates the finding and sequestration of, I will say, the alleged victims, as outlined, this theory of alleged provocation." (R. 27:27.) "The purpose of sequestration is to assure a fair trial, specifically to prevent a witness from shaping his or her testimony based on the testimony of other witnesses." (R. 27:27.) The court explained that it had "the inherent authority to further the truth seeking objective of examining witnesses by ensuring that witnesses aren't aware of testimony already provided in the testimony when . . . they testify in the present case." (R. 27:28.)

Potter's position regarding a victim's right to be present at trial proceedings goes too far and approaches a categorical rule. (*See* Potter Br. 11–18.) The Wisconsin Constitution and statutes require consideration of a victim's and defendant's rights, and the sequestration order correctly applied the law. At the very least, the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion in making its decision.

Article I, section 9m(3) of the Wisconsin Constitution states that crime "victims shall be entitled to all of the following rights," including, "[u]pon request, to attend all proceedings involving the case." But, as the circuit court correctly explained, the victim's right to be present at trial proceedings is not "absolute." (R. 27:26.) Even after Marsy's Law, this concept is in the Wisconsin Constitution's victims of crime section: "This section is not intended and may not be interpreted to supersede a defendant's federal constitutional rights." Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m(6).

"The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through the Due Process Clauses." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 684–85 (1984). Thus, as the circuit court accurately

Page 18 of 22

stated, "Marsy's Law reflects [Wis. Const. art. I] section 9m's earlier recognition that victim's constitutional rights are not intended and may not be interpreted to supersede a defendant's federal constitutional rights, namely the right to a fair trial." (R. 27:26–27); see Evans, 238 Wis. 2d 411, ¶ 6 ("[t]he purpose of sequestration is to assure a fair trial").

Likewise, the Wisconsin statutes create no categorical rule about a victim's right to attend trial proceedings. Wisconsin Stat. § 950.04(1v)(b) gives victims the right "[t]o attend court proceedings in the case, subject to [§] 906.15." Thus, a victim's right to attend proceedings is impacted by a defendant's right to a fair trial. Wisconsin Stat. § 906.15(2) prohibits the exclusion of "[a] victim, as defined in s. 950.02(4), in a criminal case . . . unless the judge . . . finds that exclusion of the victim *is necessary to provide a fair trial for the defendant*." Wis. Stat. § 906.15(2)(d). Here, the circuit court made that finding and adequately explained its reasoning, as argued above. (R. 27:26-28.)

To the extent this Court addresses the merits of the sequestration order, entering it was not error because the court reached a reasonable conclusion, under proper legal standards, considering a logical view of the facts. *See Evans*, 238 Wis. 2d 411, \P 7.

III. The circuit court properly found that Potter was in contempt of court and fined him.

The circuit court properly found Potter in contempt and fined him, and this Court should affirm the contempt order.

Chapter 785 governs contempt of court. "Contempt of court" is "intentional" "[m]isconduct in the presence of the court which interferes with a court proceeding or with the administration of justice, or which impairs the respect due the court" and also includes "[d]isobediance, resistance or obstruction of the authority, process or order of a court." Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(a), (b).

A "punitive sanction" is "imposed to punish a past contempt of court for the purpose of upholding the authority of the court." Wis. Stat. § 785.01(2). A court may impose a punitive sanction for contempt. Wis. Stat. § 785.02. Under the "summary procedure," the court "may impose a punitive sanction upon a person who commits a contempt of court in the actual presence of the court." Wis. Stat. § 785.03(2). "The judge shall impose the punitive sanction immediately after the contempt of court and only for the purpose of preserving order in the court and protecting the authority and dignity of the court." Wis. Stat. § 785.03(2).

"A court, after finding a contempt of court in a summary procedure under s. 785.03(2), may impose for each separate contempt of court a fine of not more than \$500 or imprisonment in the court jail for not more than 30 days or both." Wis. Stat. § 785.04(2)(b).

A. Potter does not argue that the circuit court used an improper contempt procedure.

Potter does not argue that the circuit court followed the wrong procedure in finding him in contempt, nor could he. He waived any such argument by his actions procuring the contempt order below. See State v. Ndina, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 29, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 ("waiver is the intentional relinquishment . . . of a known right" (citation omitted)).

Potter conceded that by e-mailing TH and inviting him to violate the sequestration order he "put [himself] in defiance of the Court's order, and I did that with the understanding that the Court would appropriately find me to be in contempt of that order." (R. 30:3.) He even requested that he be found in contempt: "If the Court would make that finding, my office will draft an order for you to sign to that effect, not because the State is in anyway challenging the Court's authority, but simply to preserve this appeal." (R. 30:3.) Potter waived any argument that there was an improper contempt procedure.

B. The circuit court was competent to enter the sequestration order, so Potter's intentionally defying it was contemptuous.

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